STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED.

ISSUE TWO:

WHETHER STATEMENTS MADE DURING THE VIDEO-RECORDED STATEMENT REGARDING THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR BAD ACTS WERE INADMISSIBLE UNDER THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF EVIDENCE.

ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER STATEMENTS MADE DURING THE VIDEO-RECORDED STATEMENT REGARDING THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR BAD ACTS WERE INADMISSIBLE UNDER THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

ISSUE FOUR:

WHETHER THERE WAS PLAIN ERROR DUE TO THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO CORRECTLY APPLY MISSISSIPPI RULE OF EVIDENCE 609 WHEN THE STATE IMPROPERLY IMPEACHED THE APPELLANT REGARDING HIS PRIOR CONVICTION DURING CROSS-EXAMINATION.

ISSUE FIVE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT THE

**DEFENSE COUNSEL'S SELF-DEFENSE JURY INSTRUCTION.**

**ISSUE SIX:**

**WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO DEFINE REASONABLE DOUBT.**

**ISSUE SEVEN:**

**WHETHER THERE WAS CUMULATIVE ERROR THAT DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL.**

**STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION**

Floyd Robinson, the Appellant in this case, is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

**STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to **Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution** and **Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101.**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Oktibbeha County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for capital murder against Floyd Robinson, following a jury trial on January 29 - February 1, 2007, honorable Lee J. Howard, Circuit Judge, presiding. Mr. Robinson was subsequently sentenced to life imprisonment in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

**FACTS**

On November 30, 2005, Shannon Williams (Williams) of the Oktibbeha County Sheriff's Department was paged to the front lobby of the county jail, in Starkville, where a woman asked if he would go to a residence on Apple Street to check on her friend. (T. 130-31). The woman indicated that she was scared something had happened to her friend. (T. 131).

Williams agreed to check on her friend, and drove to the residence, a short distance from the jail. (T. 131). When the officer pulled up, he went to the door of the house and saw a body of a deceased female who would be identified as Bridgette Moore (Moore). (T. 131). The Starkville Police Department was subsequently contacted and arrived on the scene. (T. 131).

Investigators searched the area outside the house and found a brown paper bag, a black comb, and an unused .25 shell casing on the premises. (T. 145). Investigators also found what appeared to be blood on a cinder block holding up the steps to the house, blood on the third step, and two broken acrylic finger nails. (T. 151).

The initial suspect in the investigation was Floyd Robinson (Robinson) due to the fact that he was the victim's boyfriend. (T. 204). Robinson was not on the scene. (T. 204). The Starkville Police then contacted a detective in Columbus and asked them to ride by Robinson's home. (T. 204).

Members of the Columbus Police Department set up a perimeter around Robinson's home, and members of the Starkville Police Department went to the scene. (T. 205). After being unable to make contact with Robinson, officers put gas in the house and subsequently taken into custody and taken to the Columbus Police Department for interrogation. (T. 207-208).

Robinson was read his *Miranda* rights and signed a waiver. (T. 208). Over the course of an interrogation lasting upwards of five (5) hours, Robinson admitted to shooting the victim, however, he claimed that it was an accident that happened after an altercation with the victim. (T. 273, Exib. 27).

Robinson was subsequently indicted for the murder of the victim. (C.P. 5, R.E. 8). Robinson was tried, and, after deliberation, a jury returned a guilty verdict against him. (C.P. 60, R.E. 11). Robinson was subsequently sentenced to life in the custody of the Mississippi

Department of Corrections. (C.P. 64, R.E. 12).

On March 2, 2007, Robinson filed a Motion for Judgment Not Withstanding the Verdict. (C.P. 96, R.E.13). The motion was denied by the trial court on September 6, 2007. (C.P. 99, R.E. 14). Feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, the Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (C.P. 116 , R.E.15).

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant's Fifth Amendment rights were violated during the course of his interrogation. While discussing the waiver of his *Miranda* rights with police investigators, the Appellant made three separate statements concerning his desire for a lawyer. Furthermore, when asked why he was being interrogated, because that would be informative as to whether he needed a lawyer, police officers said they would tell him as soon as he signed his *Miranda* waiver. This constituted coercion in violation of the Appellant's Fifth Amendment rights.

Secondly, statements made during the Appellant's video-taped interrogation regarding the Appellant's prior bad acts and convictions were inadmissible under the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. The statements were inadmissible under both **Rule 404(b)** and **Rule 402**. The failure to properly exclude this evidence significantly prejudiced the Appellant and resulted in reversible error.

Thirdly, statements made during the Appellant's video-taped interrogation were in violation of the Appellant's fundamental constitutional right under the confrontation clause. The violation of this fundamental right warrants reversal.

Fourthly, the trial court committed plain error when it failed to correctly apply **Mississippi Rule of Evidence 609**, including conducting a balancing test or give a limiting instruction. The State improperly impeached the Appellant, resulting in reversible error.

Fifthly, the trial court erred when it failed to grant the Appellant his self-defense jury instruction. The Appellant's fundamental right to present the jury with his theory of defense was violated by the trial court. The Appellant contended that, in the course of defending himself, the gun accidentally went off. The failure to grant the Appellant his self-defense jury instruction resulted in a violation of a fundamental right and warrants reversal.

Sixthly, the trial court erred when it allowed the State to define reasonable doubt. The error by the State in defining reasonable doubt rose to the magnitude of constitutional error and is subject to plain error analysis. The violation of this substantive right prejudiced the Appellant and therefore warrants reversal.

Lastly, all of the errors, while perhaps not reversible independently, when assessed cumulatively and taken in concert, deprived the Appellant of his fundamental right to a fair and impartial trial.

## ARGUMENT

### **ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED.**

#### *i. Standard of Review*

Because the admissibility of the Appellant's statements to investigators under the Fifth Amendment was not objected to at trial, the Appellant must proceed under the doctrine of plain error. If a contemporaneous objection is not made, an appellant must rely on plain error to raise the argument on appeal. *Watts v. State*, 733 So. 2d 214, 233 (Miss. 1999). "The plain error doctrine requires that there be an error and that the error must have resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice." *Williams v. State*, 794 So. 2d 181, 187. (Miss. 2001) (citations omitted). Moreover, the plain error rule only is applied by Mississippi courts when the error effects an

appellant's substantive/fundamental rights. *Id.*

*ii. The Appellant clearly invoked his right to an attorney.*

During the beginning of police interrogation, the Appellant invoked his right to an attorney on three separate occasions.

First, he asked, "I'm saying, why can't I have a lawyer present with me know? I'm saying I don't know what's going..." (Exib. 25). While phrased in the form of a question, this is a clear and unequivocal request for a lawyer. Someone does not ask for something they don't want. Therefore, police investigators should have ceased questioning immediately.

Through the course of essentially being talked out of his right to an attorney by police investigators, the Appellant said, "I might want a lawyer. I don't know what's going on." (Exib. 25). Finally, the Appellant's desire to have a lawyer present, he said, "I can't sign this if I don't have a lawyer or something and I don't know what's going on." The Appellant recognizes that an ambiguous request for counsel does not necessitate that investigators refrain from proceeding with the interrogation. *See e.g. Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452 (1994).<sup>1</sup>

Regardless, there was nothing equivocal or ambiguous about the statements made by the

---

1. The Appellant, does, however, question the appropriateness of the position. Other states have expanded the rights of suspects during interrogation; *See e.g., State v. Hoey*, 881 P. 2d 504 (Haw. 1994) (holding that when a suspect ambiguously or equivocally requests a lawyer during interrogation, police must cease all questioning, or seek clarification of suspect's request); *State v. Risk*, 598 N.W. 2d 641 (Minn. 1999)(concluding that police must cease questioning and clarify an accused's intentions if the accused makes an ambiguous or equivocal request for counsel during custodial interrogation). Even the majority opinion in *Davis*, per Justice O'Connor mention its holding "might disadvantage some suspects who – because of fear, intimidation, lack of linguistic skills, or a variety of other reasons – will not clearly articulate their right to counsel although they actually want to have a lawyer present." *Davis*, 512 U.S. at 460. Some legal theorists have concluded that the *Davis* rule will have a disproportionate impact. It has been written, "[s]ociolinguistic research indicates that certain discrete segments of the population, such as women and a number of minority racial and ethnic groups, are far more likely than other groups to avoid strong, assertive means of expression and to use indirect and hedged speech." Yale Kamisar, *Gates, "Probable Cause," "Good Faith," and Beyond*, 59 Iowa L. Rev. 551 note 11(1984). There can be little doubt that, though dated before *Davis*, such studies and research are applicable today.

Appellant. He said, “I’m saying, why can’t I have a lawyer present with me?” (Exib.25). That statement, at the very least, is an admission to not knowingly or intelligently understanding the *Miranda* rights, and, at most, a request for counsel.

**iii. The *Miranda* Waiver was coerced, and, therefore, not voluntary.**

In *Neal v. State*, the Mississippi Supreme Court concluded that the signing of a waiver does not automatically make the subsequent statements voluntary, knowing or intelligent. *Neal v. State*, 451 So. 2d 743, 753 (Miss. 1984). The *Neal* Court said,

[T]he mere giving of the *Miranda* warnings, no matter how meticulous, no matter how often repeated, does not render admissible any inculpatory statement thereafter given by the accused.... When an accused makes an in-custody inculpatory statement without the advice or presence of counsel even though warnings and advice regarding his privilege against self-incrimination have been fully and fairly given, the State shoulders a heavy burden to show a knowing and intelligent waiver.”

*Id.* at 753.

A suspect in a criminal investigation may waive his privilege against self-incrimination and his *Miranda* right to counsel before or during interrogation. However, there is a “heavy burden” resting on the prosecutor to demonstrate that the defendant “voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waived” his rights.<sup>2</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 475 (1966).

In order for a defendant to waive his right against self-incrimination, the waiver must be knowing, intelligent and voluntary. *Id.* at 444. The State has the heavy burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the confession was voluntary. *Cox v. State*, 586 So. 2d 761, 763 (Miss. 1991).

In order to be a valid waiver under *Miranda*, that waiver must be voluntary, *i.e.*, “the

---

2. This type of waiver is commonly known as a *Zerbst* waiver. See *Johnson v. Zerbst*, 304 U.S. 458 (1938).

product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception.” *Moran v. Burbine*, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986). In making a determination of voluntariness, the United States Supreme Court has stated that “[t]here is obviously no reason to require more in the way of a ‘voluntariness’ inquiry in the *Miranda* waiver context than in the Fourteenth Amendment confession context.” *Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 153, 169-70 (1986).

As the Mississippi Court of Appeals has noted, in order for a waiver to be voluntary, a defendant must be aware of the nature of his self incrimination rights and the consequences of waiving them. *Brown v. State*, 839 So. 2d 591, 600 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

The facts in the case *sub judice* are wholly analogous with a coerced consent to search with regard to Fourth Amendment jurisprudence. In *United States v. Chavez-Villarreal*, the Fifth Circuit concluded that the consent was coerced and was not an independent act of free will. *United States v. Chavez-Villareal*, 4 F. 3d 124, 127 (5th Cir. 1993).

In *Chavez-Villareal*, there was a stop of a vehicle at the Mexican border. This stop was found to be without probable cause. In the course of the stop, the officer smelled marijuana and, before returning the driver’s alien registration card, requested and obtained a written consent to search the vehicle, whereupon marijuana and a gun were found. It is clear from the facts of the case *sub judice* that the *Miranda* waiver was coerced and therefore, not valid.

***iv. Based on the Appellant’s own words during interrogation, it cannot be concluded that the Appellant knowingly and intelligently waived his Miranda rights.***

As noted above, the Appellant asked repeatedly concerning with obtaining counsel during the interrogation. He even went so far as to ask the investigators why he couldn’t have a lawyer. Clearly, if the Appellant asked why he could not have a lawyer, he did not understand that he could have a lawyer. Therefore, based on his words and his words alone it cannot be reasonably

concluded that the Appellant understood the nature of his *Miranda* rights.

To be knowing and intelligent, a valid “waiver must have been made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.” *Moran*, 475 U.S. at 421. Therefore, it is clear that the Appellant did not knowingly and intelligently waive his *Miranda* rights.

**v. Conclusion**

As noted by the Mississippi Supreme Court, a violation of a defendant’s Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination while under custodial interrogation is a “violation of a fundamental constitutional guarantee.” *Edmonds v. State*, 955 So.2d 787, 805 (Miss. 2007). The violation of the Appellant’s Fifth Amendment rights is both fundamental in nature and resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice. Because there was not a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of *Miranda*, this honorable Court should reverse this conviction and remand for a new trial.

**ISSUE TWO: WHETHER STATEMENTS MADE DURING THE VIDEO-RECORDED STATEMENT REGARDING THE APPELLANT’S PRIOR BAD ACTS WERE INADMISSIBLE UNDER THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF EVIDENCE.**

**i. Standard of Review**

The standard of review on appeal regarding the admissibility of evidence is abuse of discretion. *Johnston v. State*, 567 So. 2d 237, 238 (Miss. 1990). Unless a trial court abuses its discretion in admitting the specific evidence, the appellate court will not find error. *Shearer v. State*, 423 So.2d 824, 826 (Miss. 1983).

**ii. Evidence concerning the Appellant’s prior bad acts was not admissible under Mississippi Rule of Evidence 404(b).**

During the State’s case-in-chief, the State intended to enter into evidence, a lengthy video-taped interrogation of the Appellant regarding the facts of the instant case. The defense

counsel made a motion regarding the admissibility of the tape:

“BY MS. CLINKSCALES: Your Honor, I’d like to suppress the interrogation video. There is inadmissible information concerning a possible criminal background of the defendant. I don’t know if we can redact those portions.

....

BY MR. ALLGOOD: If Your Honor please, the only other criminal activity that is on there is criminal activity involving him and Ms. Moore wherein there are other charges of domestic violence involving him and Ms. Moore. That’s admissible. I got a case on that. That’s Moss versus State --

....

BY MS. CLINKSCALES: No, Your Honor. There is evidence of a criminal proceeding involving another young lady, which has nothing to do with Ms. Moore.

BY THE COURT: What kind of criminal proceeding are you talking about?

BY MS. CLINKSCALES: It’s also a domestic violence or charges of domestic violence involving another young lady, Marilyn McKinney.”

(T. 228-29, R.E. 16-17).

The State then reiterated its position that *Moss v. State*, 727 So. 2d 720 (Miss. 1998) was controlling. The trial court subsequently questioned trial counsel regarding the exact contents of the video. Trial counsel replied,

“BY MS. CLINKSCALES: Your Honor, apparently before they began interrogating Mr. Robinson they pulled his criminal record, and they had a printout of some statements and abstracts from different courts around the area of Clay County, Oktibbeha, Lowndes County. And they brought it up to him during that interrogation.

BY THE COURT: What do you mean brought it up? They asked him if he had been convicted of another - -

BY MS. CLINKSCALES: They didn’t ask him if he had been convicted of

it. They told him about it. They questioned him about those convictions.”

(T. 229-30, R.E. 17-18).

The State responded;

“BY MR. ALGOOD: If Your Honor please, initially my response is *Moss*, which I’ve tendered to the Court. Secondly, Your Honor, insofar as the defendant’s responses are concerned, as I recall one instance he says I pled guilty to something I didn’t do. He doesn’t, I guess you’d say, inculcate himself in any respect. He’s being interrogated about it. It’s part of the interrogation. It’s part of the complete statement. I think it’s admissible.”

(T. 230, R.E. 18).

The Court then made its ruling, concluding;

“BY THE COURT: The completeness of the issue that I have, that’s what they’re doing is interrogating concerning a homicide. That is different than eliciting evidence of a prior crime or criminal act. The objection and motion to suppress on that basis is overruled.”

(T. 230-231, R.E. 18-19).

Accordingly, during the State’s case-in-chief, the entirety of the interrogation video was played to the jury. The video contained several references to prior bad acts and crimes by the Appellant, including the following comments by the investigator;

“Now I want you to let me read this other one too. Let me read this one to you. This is from, of all people, the other woman you been talking about. On the above date at approximately 20:52 hours, I, Officer Williams, took a report from Ms. McKinney concerning her boyfriend... It says Ms., M-R-S, (sic) concerning her boyfriend, Floyd Robinson who constantly keeps threatening her about killing her. He’s always talking to her...taking her... no, I’m sorry... taking her to the middle of nowhere, putting a gun to her head and throat and telling her what he would do to her. On the last evening, 5/24/03, at approximately 16:30-17:00, he took her to his house and started washing dishes and when she told him she was going home, her started going ballistic and started to push, kick, and pull out her hair. He pulled a gun on her then and once he settled down, he just told her to leave. She left and went home and then called the police. My goodness..... You got two women saying they felt like you were going to

kill them at one point in time... two separate ones.”<sup>3</sup>

(Exib. 25).