IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

FLOYD ROBINSON

SEP - 2 2008

APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-2202

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

Secondly, statements made in the video-tape interview shown at trial which referenced a prior history of domestic violence between the defendant and a third party were admissible to show absence of mistake and to clarify aspects of the defendant's statement and subsequent testimony. Nevertheless, this extremely brief reference in a five-hour interview tape was unlikely to have made an impression upon the jury and prejudiced the defendant.

Statements made during the video-recorded statement paraphrasing an unrelated police report were admitted because counsel did not offer a contemporaneous objection and the evidence was not testimonial in nature. This complaint is procedurally barred because the defendant did not make a specific contemporaneous objection. An objection on one or more specific grounds constitutes a waiver of all other grounds. *Stringer v. State*, 279 So. 2d 156, 158 (Miss. 1973). Without waiving the procedural bar, the objection of the defendant fails on the merits because the admitted evidence was not testimonial in nature.

Fourthly, the Brief for the Appellant argues that the trial court erred when it neglected to perform a balancing test on the record of the probative value of evidence of prior bad acts for impeachment purposes, pursuant to *Miss. Rule Evid.* 609(a)(1). The State notes that the defendant made no contemporaneous objection to the impeachment line of questioning and urges the procedural bar.

Fifthly, the court ruled correctly in denying the defendant's jury instruction on selfdefense. The defendant produced no evidence to indicate that he killed the victim by design in order to protect himself. He presented no dual theories, only that the killing was an accident.

Sixthly, the prosecution's closing arguments were legally correct and not prejudicial to the defendant. The prosecution did not attempt to define reasonable doubt, and so an objection would have been meritless. Furthermore, the defendant did not make a contemporaneous objection to the closing argument, and so this complaint is procedurally barred.

Lastly, the trial court did not commit cumulative errors sufficient to require a new trial.

The overwhelming weight of the evidence against the defendant should deter this court from ordering a new trial under the cumulative error doctrine since, even assuming the court sustains all complaints here alleged by the defendant, the evidence is still sufficient to convince a trier of fact that the defendant committed the crime.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE PRESERVED APPELLANT'S FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS BECAUSE THE CHALLENGED INTERROGATION CONFORMS TO RELEVANT STATE STANDARDS.

Robinson challenges the admissibility of statements made implicating himself during interview with local authorities. The brief alleges that Robinson invoked his right to counsel, that the *Miranda* waiver he signed was coerced, and that, in the alternative, the waiver was not signed knowingly and intelligently.

The State argues, first and briefly, that Robinson is procedurally barred from making this claim because he made no objection to its admission at trial. "[T]he failure to raise an issue in the trial court [requires] the appellate court to impose a procedural bar on appeal." *Evans v. State*, 725 So. 2d 613 (Miss. 1997). He relies, then, on the plain error doctrine in order to

proceed. This court will, when circumstances require, note plain errors not brought to the attention of the court that severely affect the constitutional rights of the appellant. *Grubb v. State*, 584 So. 2d 786, 789 (Miss. 1991). These are, however, always exceedingly plain. In *Grubb*, a trial judge mistakenly sentenced the appellant to a life sentence after misinterpreting the sentencing statute. *Id.* In *Williams v. State* (cited by appellant), the appellate court overturned a sentencing enhancement for a drug dealer convicted of selling within 1000 feet of school property when the uncontested testimony of the police was that the dealer was 1,105 feet from the school property. *Williams v. State*, 794 So. 2d 181, 187-88 (Miss. 2001). In these cases, appellate courts were not asked to sit as finders of fact under the plain error doctrine. There will be little left of the procedural bar if the court volunteers itself for this assignment.

Nevertheless, the merits of Robinson's contentions fail as well. First, Robinson never invoked his right to counsel. Four times Robinson did mention legal counsel. [Ex. 25 between approx. 0:00:00 and 0:03:00]. He asked, "Okay, well, I can't talk to a lawyer before I start answering questions?" *Id.* After repeating the waiver ["If you decide to answer any questions now without a lawyer present, you still have the right to stop answering at any time, you also have the right to stop answering any time until you talk to a lawyer"], he asked, "What I'm saying [is] why can't I have a lawyer present now? I don't know what's going on." *Id.* He repeated similar variations of this question. *Id.* He never, though, used any variation of "I want a lawyer."

This is not splitting hairs. It is an important distinction in both the law of Mississippi and the context of the interview as a whole.

Normally, the appellate court would ask whether the trial court applied the proper standard (finding voluntariness beyond a reasonable doubt) and then whether the trial court's

finding of fact was supported by substantial evidence. Holland v. State, 587 So. 2d 848, 855 (Miss. 1991). The appellate court's discretion under the plain error doctrine must, by common sense, be more limited. The right to have an attorney must be specifically invoked. Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 482 (1981). This court though has taken seemingly equivocal or ambiguous utterances, which could be interpreted as invocations, and required the police to cease all inquiry except efforts to clarify the suspect's utterance and rights. Holland, 587 So. 2d at 856. In Holland, the suspect asked, "Don't you think I need a lawyer?" Id. at 855. The appellate court there determined that when suspects ask a question, as a matter of law, their statement is ambiguous and interrogators should be permitted to respond for purposes of clarification. Id. at 857. The only remaining question for validity is whether the government's behavior in clarification was permissible. Id. at 858. The "critical factor" in determining the validity of the government's behavior is whether a review of the whole event discloses the interviewer for the government has restricted the suspect's continuing option for counsel. Nash v. Estelle, 597 F.2d 513, 517-18 (5th Cir.1979). When Robinson asked about his rights pertaining to counsel, the interviewers did little more than repeat pertinent parts of the rights waiver.

ROBINSON: What I'm saying [is] why can't I have a lawyer present now? I don't know what's going on.

POLICE: Okay, there again, we're gonna get to that portion down there. You don't ... 'fore we even get further, you can see right here: 'sign waiving his rights, refuse to sign, wishes to speak and answer questions but prefers not to sign the form, prefers to speak with an attorney before making the decision.' We'll get to that. 'I have read this statement of my rights, I understand what my rights are, I'm willing to make a statement and answer questions, I do not want a lawyer at this time, I

understand and know what I'm doing, no promise or threats have been made to me, and no pressure or coercion - you understand what coercion means? That means somebody twisted your arm ...

ROBINSON: Um-hmm.

POLICE: ...of any king have been used against me.

ROBINSON: 'I have read this statement of my rights, I understand what my rights are, I'm willing to make a statement and answer questions, I do not want a lawyer at this time..." What I'm saying, I might want a lawyer. I don't know what's going on.

And later:

ROBINSON: I can't ... if I sign this here, I'm losing out what I'm (inaudible). I don't know what's going on. You see what I'm saying?

POLICE: No I don't.

ROBINSON: Okay, if I sign this, I'm letting all my rights go.

POLICE: No you're not because what does this say up here? "You have the right to remain silent." You don't have to say anything even after you sign this form. And you don't ... you can stop talking anytime you want to. You're in control.

With this reassurance, Robinson signed the form. A review of the whole event shows an interviewer that was not pushy, was not coercive, and was not aggressive, but rather was patient in explaining the waiver to the defendant within the bounds of the law. If the court sees the interview, the State posits that it will likely agree, and, even if it decides that it might have proceeded differently than the interviewers, that their conduct was a reasonable (if not admirable) effort to explain and protect the rights of the accused. Put another way, there is no plain error in their conduct

Second, Robinson alleges coercion. His brief alleges no specific act that constituted coercion. The closest thing is this exchange:

ROBINSON: Why should I sign this? And I don't know what's going on.

POLICE: Well, I'm going to tell you after you sign this form.

In some world where Robinson had been abducted clandestinely by the police without actual knowledge of the reasons for his detainment, this might come close to a promise or pressure. But in the real world, where Robinson's father had already called the police and told them that Robinson had found his girlfriend of two years shot dead that morning, it is hard to conceive that Robinson was being anything other than cagey.

If the defendant had raised this issue in the trial court, the State would have needed to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not coerced. *Payton v. State*, 897 So. 2d 921, 935 (Miss. 2003). The testimony of an interviewing officer that the confession was made voluntarily makes the State's prima facie case on voluntariness. *Id.* Certainly, a videotape of this very tame interview meets and exceeds that burden.

Third, Robinson argues that the waiver was not knowingly and intelligently waived. In order to uphold this contention, the court would need, again, to act as a fact-finder and determine that when Robinson finally signed the waiver (referenced *infra*) the patient explanations given by the interviewers were not intelligently understood. The State does not attempt to contest the court's rule in *Neal v. State* that the State "shoulders a heavy burden to show a knowing and intelligent waiver." *Neal v. State*, 451 So. 2d 743, 753 (Miss. 1984). The State would contend that this is a trial court burden, and that the load is less weighty under the plain error doctrine. Nevertheless, the State asserts that the video shows a defendant who, after careful explanation, understands the rights that he might not have so clearly understood at the beginning of the

interview. It is this understanding that caused him to abandon his questions and sign the waiver. Further, the defendant's continued assertions that he "didn't know what's going" were clearly disingenuous. Just after he signed the waiver, police asked Robinson, "What happened in Starkville this morning?"

Instead of saying something like, "I found my girlfriend shot dead in her house. I understand my father has already mentioned this to you," Robinson replied, "I don't know." The clear thing in this interview is not error, it is the fact that the suspect was being strategically cagey (perhaps, intelligently and knowingly exercising his right to remain silent).

II. STATEMENTS MADE DURING THE VIDEO-RECORDED STATEMENT REFERENCES PRIOR BAD ACTS WERE ADMISSIBLE AS EVIDENCE OF ABSENCE OF MISTAKE OR ACCIDENT AND CLARIFICATION OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE.

Robinson challenges the admission of the complete video-taped statement he made to police on the grounds that during the interview, police referenced his prior conviction surrounding an act of violence against a previous girlfriend (the mother of one of his children). The court reviews this decision under an abuse of discretion of standard. *Johnston v. State*, 567 So. 2d 237, 238 (Miss. 1990).

Mississippi Rules of Evidence provide that "[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." Miss. R. Evid. 404(b) The Brief for the Appellant states, accurately, that the reasoning behind the trial court's decision to admit the entire video is unclear, however the State contends that the resulting decision was the correct one.

The defendant's history of domestic disturbances between himself and the victim is what led investigators initially to suspect his involvement in the death of the victim. [T. 204]. Mistake is a common excuse for domestic violence, and the investigators interviewing the defendant likely anticipated that the defendant might claim that the death of Bridgette Moore was just an unfortunate accident, as he did. [Exhib. 27]. In fact, the defendant claimed again at trial that the gun had gone off accidentally. [T. 374]. This assertion by the defense required rebuttal. The evidence of prior bad acts found objectionable by the defense was the interviewer's reference to a prior domestic disturbance between the defendant and Marilyn McKinney. [Exhib. 25]. The defendant had repeatedly taken McKinney to remote places and threatened her with a gun. *Id.* The defendant's history with gun-related domestic violence supported that State's rebuttal of defendant's testimony that this particular gun-related incident was an accident.

The appellate courts has respected trial court discretion when it decided that seemingly separate incidents were instructive regarding one of the exemptions in Miss. R. Evid. 404(b). In Wilson v. State, a defendant claimed that the shotgun discharge which fatally struck his girlfriend while they were in bed was an accident. Wilson v. State, 956 So. 2d 1044, 1046 (Miss. App. 2007) cert. dismissed Wilson v. State, 973 So. 2d 244 (Miss. 2008). There the trial judge admitted evidence that the defendant had been involved in previous gun-related crimes designed to refute his assertion of accident. Id. at 1047-48. The victim in Wilson was the victim of the defendant's previous instances of gun violence. Id. See Moss v. State, 727 So. 2d 720, 724 (Miss. 1998). The State admits that this is a bit of an "extension of the leash," however admission of prior evidence of domestic violence involving guns when the defendant claims that the shooting death of his romantic partner was an accident is a useful and limited extension.

Further, the repeated explanation of the defendant for not reporting the shooting of his

girlfriend was that he was on probation. [T. 374]. Evidence relating to Marilyn McKinney helped to explain why the defendant was on probation. This is likely what the trial court meant when it referenced the "completeness of the issue." [T. 230-31]. Evidence of prior bad acts is admissible to show the complete story of the crime, so as not to confuse the jurors. *Phinizee v. State*, 983 So. 2d 322, 330 (Miss. App. 2007). Without that evidence, jurors could not have understood why the defendant's probation restricted his ability to visit the victim.

In the alternative, the State would argue that evidence relating to the defendant's prior history with Marilyn McKinney was harmless error considering the weight of the evidence against the defendant. The basic test for whether error is harmless is not whether the jury considered the improper evidence at all, it is whether the error was important in relation to everything else the jury was considering on the issue. *Tanner v. State*, 764 So. 2d 385, 400. (Miss. 2000). The defendant was on probation for threatening and hurting the victim. [T. 378]. If the jury had never heard the name Marilyn McKinney, they still almost certainly would have concluded that the defendant was violent with the women he "loved."

The Brief of the Appellant cites indignantly an exchange between the prosecutor and the defendant that references the defendant's propensity for injuring his domestic partners. But, had defense counsel not repeatedly referenced Marilyn McKinney in direct [T. 378, 79], the jury might not have known any more about that previous victim of the defendant besides the passing reference buried in a five hour interview video.

III. STATEMENTS MADE DURING THE VIDEO-RECORDED STATEMENT PARAPHRASING AN UNRELATED POLICE REPORT WERE ADMITTED BECAUSE COUNSEL DID NOT OFFER A CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION AND THE EVIDENCE WAS NOT TESTIMONIAL IN NATURE.

The defendant here claims that the paraphrased statement of Marilyn McKinney read by the interviewing officer during the defendant's interrogation and, thus, subsequently heard by the jury was inadmissible testimonial evidence in conflict with the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause.

First, this complaint is procedurally barred because the defendant did not make a specific contemporaneous objection. An objection on one or more specific grounds constitutes a waiver of all other grounds. *Stringer v. State*, 279 So. 2d 156, 158 (Miss. 1973). The defendant moved to suppress the entire video because there was allegedly "inadmissible information concerning a possible criminal background of the defendant." [T. 228]. Neither the defendant, the court, nor the prosecution referenced the Confrontation Clause. Because the defendant's objection was clearly based specifically in the "prior bad acts" rule, the objection brought here based in the Confrontation Clause was waived and is now procedurally barred.

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